ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAY 23 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Clarendon County

William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JUSTIN JERMAINE JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001219

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in admitting the irrelevant pre-death photographs of each of the victims where their sole purpose was to arouse the sympathy and prejudice of the jury?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in allowing one of the State's witnesses, Mason Moore, to testify via Skype in violation of Appellant's right under the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment and pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-23-60, where the State failed to show any important public policy necessitating the use of video testimony and the trial court improperly required Appellant to show prejudice?
- III. Whether the trial court erred in finding that Appellant's statement was voluntary where it was coerced by the investigators continuous lies regarding the evidence, threat of the death penalty if he did not change his "story," and emotional appeals and threats related to Appellant's two-year old daughter?
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for mistrial and request to empanel a new jury where Appellant was led into the courthouse wearing orange handcuffs and accompanied by three to four armed guards prior to voir dire of the jury in violation of his right to due process?
- V. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for mistrial and request to empanel a new jury where two of the State's witnesses discussed the facts and merits of the case in the hallway within arms-length of jurors in violation of Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to a fair and impartial jury?
- VI. Whether the trial court erred in sentencing Appellant to five-years incarceration for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime where (1) Appellant was sentenced to life for murder and first degree burglary and S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-23-490 expressly provides that the "five-year sentence does not apply in cases where the death penalty or a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime" and (2) the evidence did not show a sufficient nexus between possession of the firearm and the offense of kidnapping?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 7, 2011, the Clarendon County grand jury indicted Appellant Justin Jermaine Johnson for the offenses of murder (two counts), attempted murder, first degree burglary, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 971.

On March 6, 2014, Johnson appeared before the Honorable William Jeffrey Young for a pre-trial Jackson v. Denno<sup>1</sup> hearing. R. 1. Subsequently, on March 10-14 and 18-20, 2014, he appeared before the same judge and a jury for trial on the above offenses. Johnson was represented at the pre-trial hearing and trial by Scott Robinson, and the State was represented by solicitor Ernest Finney and assistant solicitor Christopher DuRant. R. 75. The jury found Johnson guilty of the murder of the minor victim, the murder of Maxine Caraway, first degree burglary, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Johnson was found not guilty of the attempted murder of Kaisha Caraway. R. 932, ll. 9-24. Judge Young sentenced Johnson to three terms of life imprisonment for the two murders and first degree burglary and thirty years for kidnapping, to be served consecutively, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, to be served concurrently to the sentences on the other charges. R. 948, l. 19 – 949, l. 17.

This appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774 (1964).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Johnson had two minor children in common with Kaisha Caraway, a son and a daughter. He was accused and convicted of the murder of Kaisha's grandmother, Maxine Caraway, and the murder of his nine month old son. He was also accused and convicted of first degree burglary, associated with the alleged forced entry into the home of Maxine and John Caraway; kidnapping, associated with driving Kaisha away from the home where the incident occurred; and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, associated with possessing or displaying a 12 gauge shotgun during the commission of the murders, kidnapping, and burglary. During the majority of his lengthy interrogation, Johnson maintained that Kaisha's boyfriend, Robert, was responsible and that he only fired one shot, which was directed at Robert when he fled the scene.

### **Motion to Suppress Appellant's Statement**

A pre-trial Jackson v. Denno hearing was held on March 6, 2014. Both investigators, Mason Moore and Kippton Coker, who conducted the interrogations of Johnson, testified at the hearing. The court also reviewed the videotape of the gunshot residue ("GSR") testing and interrogation that were conducted in an interview room at the Clarendon County Sheriff's office. R. 12, ll. 14-22; State's Ex. 56-65 (DVDs of Apr. 6, 2011 GSR test and Interrogation) (on file with this Court).<sup>2</sup> The video system does not record constantly and requires a manual restart such that there are portions of Johnson's

---

<sup>2</sup> State's Exhibits 56, 57, and 58 show the GSR testing of Johnson. The aggregate length of these DVDs is 2 hours, 52 minutes, and 47 seconds. State's Exhibits 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, and 65 show the majority of the interrogation of Johnson, though it is obvious that the recording equipment stopped at the end of the first three DVDs. The aggregate length of these DVDs is 7 hours, 57 minutes, and 46 seconds.

interrogation that were not captured on the video. R. 41, l. 7 – 42, l. 23; R. 56, l. 6 – 57, l. 20.

Moore advised Johnson of his Miranda<sup>3</sup> rights both prior to conducting the GSR test and prior questioning Johnson, the latter of which began at 2:08 p.m. on April 6, 2011. R. 7, l. 3 – 9, l. 9; R. 36, ll. 14-18; State's Ex. 59 (DVD of Apr. 6, 2011 Interrogation) (on file with this Court). Moore testified that after agreeing to waive his Miranda rights, Johnson never asked to stop the questioning nor asked for an attorney. R. 8, l. 21 – 9, l. 17. Johnson was emotional at times and the questioning lasted almost eight hours, though Johnson was given several breaks and offered food, drink, and access to the restroom. R. 9, l. 21 – 10, l. 21; R. 39, ll. 1-21; State's Ex. 59-65 (DVDs of Apr. 6, 2011 Interrogation) (on file with this Court).

The investigators went into the interrogation knowing that Kaisha had identified Johnson as the shooter and with an admittedly preconceived idea that Johnson was guilty. R. 53, ll. 24. Moore testified that the story provided by Johnson during the first seven hours of the interrogation provided a detailed account of a third party committing the crime. Though Moore opined that there were some inconsistencies and variations in Johnson's "story," he did not point to anything specific. R. 28, l. 13 – 29, l. 9. Coker likewise said that they "picked his story apart" and that the details being relayed to them from the crime scene were not "adding up," but provided no examples to support his assertions. R. 40, ll. 3-22. Moore agreed that they ended the interview when they obtained what they believed to be a confession from Johnson during the last forty to forty-five minutes of the interrogation. R. 19, l. 19 – 22, l. 5. Neither investigator could point to anything distinct in Johnson's

---

<sup>3</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966).

“confession” that was not something that they had already presented to him during the interrogation as their theory of events. R. 22, ll. 20-25; R. 53, l. 25 – 56, l. 1.

Both officers testified in conclusory fashion on direct examination that there were never any threats made in exchange for Johnson’s statement and the statement was voluntary. R. 11, ll. 3-9; R. 39, l. 22 – 40, l. 2; R. 42, l. 24 – 43, l. 2. However, Moore admitted on cross-examination that he told Johnson that “God would take this weight from him,” that Coker yelled at Johnson during the interrogation, and that they discussed what they would tell Johnson’s daughter about him. R. 23, l. 1 – 24, l. 1. Coker also admitted to yelling at Johnson and to discussing Johnson’s daughter, including what the officers would tell her and whether he would see her, which had a noticeable impact at Johnson. R. 48, l. 22 – 50, l. 11.

In addition to the myriad of lies that the investigators presented to Johnson, purportedly in search of the truth, the video of the interrogation showed the use of intimidation and threats by the investigators. Just prior to his yelling outburst at Johnson, Coker told him “It’s up to you whether you keep up this dumb, bull shit story. But, you go ahead, alright. You’re going to go to prison with that bullshit story, if not the death penalty.” State’s Ex. 59 (DVD of Apr. 6, 2011 Interrogation, 1:17:33) (on file with this Court). The investigators also brought up Johnson’s two year old daughter, discussing her for approximately twenty minutes prior to his alleged confession. State’s Ex. 64 (DVD of Apr. 6, 2011 Interrogation, 0:20:21) (on file with this Court). Coker asked: “You want me to tell her that you’re a cold-blooded killer or it was an accident?” Moore then asked, “Or, that it’s just something that, that happened. You got mad and angry?” And later, “What do you want me to tell her? Daddy was out of ammunition? Sometimes good people do bad

things? What do you want me to tell her? Or do you want me tell her daddy just didn't give a shit? Daddy didn't give shit about her. He didn't give a shit about grandma. He didn't give a shit about brother, mama. What do you want me to tell her?" When Johnson responded that he did not want the investigators to tell his daughter anything, Moore told him: "The problem is, is that you aren't going to be seeing your daughter." Coker said "You're not going to have that opportunity. This is your opportunity." The investigators told Johnson that his daughter would remember what happened and that "You know it might not be until she's fifteen when she reads it, the transcript. Hey, daddy was just a cold-blooded killer. Only, the only, the only reason I'm still breathing today is because he was out of ammunition when he [inaudible] that damn front door." State's Ex. 64 (DVD of Apr. 6, 2011 Interrogation, 0:25:37) (on file with this Court).

Regarding the interview conducted on April 7, 2011, Moore said that it was Johnson who requested to speak to him again and that he was again advised of his Miranda rights.<sup>4</sup> R. 29, ll. 10-23; State's Ex. 66 (DVD of Apr. 7, 2011 Interrogation) (on file with this Court). Moore said that Johnson did not recant his "confession" from the prior day and did not reassert his claim that the crimes were committed by a third party. R. 27, l. 9 – 28, l. 2; R. 30, ll. 2-8. Johnson said that he knew that he could not do that to his son and needed to know from the officer whether he really did it or not. He said that he could not remember how it happened and that the gun just went off. State's Ex. 66 (DVD of Apr. 7, 2011 Interrogation) (on file with this Court).

---

<sup>4</sup> Coker was not a part of the second interview that occurred on April 7, 2011. R. 41, l. 1-7.

The day after the hearing, Judge Young issued his ruling allowing admission of Johnson's "confession," stating:

I have reviewed the testimony from yesterday's hearing. I have reviewed the videotapes myself, and I find that the statement made by Mr. Johnson was given freely, voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Although it was over an 11-hour period, he was -- he was Mirandized twice during that. He was very talkative.

He was offered ample times to take breaks. He was offered food. He was offered drink. He certainly did not appear to be under excessive I guess oppression in the giving of the confession, and I am going to allow the confession to come into evidence.

R. 63, ll. 10-21. Defense counsel renewed his prior objection to the admission of Johnson's statements at trial. R. 417, ll. 14-23.

### **Motions for Mistrial**

Following jury selection, defense counsel made two motions for mistrial. R. 91 – 99. The first motion related to Johnson's entering the courthouse, in full view of where the jurors were assembling, wearing street clothes but with his hands secured by orange handcuffs and escorted by three or four jail personnel. Defense counsel argued that the "at that point in time the jury saw him come through there with all indicia of being incarcerated under heavy guard" and that the appearance of being "in custody" was prejudicial. He requested that the court declare a mistrial until another jury panel could be assembled because the entire jury pool was tainted. R. 91, l. 12 – 92, l. 18.

The solicitor argued that Johnson was wearing street clothes and that any prejudice was minimal. R. 92, ll. 20-24. He noted that Johnson was "charged with two murders" and stated that he did not "believe the jury is under any illusions that a Defendant charged with multiple murders would have to be in custody or potentially could be in custody." R. 92, l.

24 – 93, l. 3. He also cited the fact that none of the jurors brought up seeing Johnson that morning during the voir dire. R. 93, ll. 3-15.

Defense counsel responded that the State's argument is contrary to the presumption of innocence, as the jurors should not have any preconceived notions about whether a defendant is or would be in custody based on the charges against him. R. 93, l. 19 – 94, l. 7. He also argued that looking at this through the lens of the jurors is too speculative and that the inconvenience of assembling a new jury pool is outweighed by Johnson's constitutional rights. R. 94, ll. 8-21. Further, voir dire of the jurors could not adequately address the matter because it would have "re-rung the bell." R. 94, ll. 21-25.

The trial court noted that Johnson entered the courtroom unhandcuffed, with his counsel such that their "last view" of him was "as a free man." R. 95, ll. 1-4. Defense counsel responded that, even so, it was only an hour prior that the jurors potentially saw him wearing the *same* clothes but handcuffed and accompanied by guards. R. 95, ll. 5-12. He argued that given the important constitutional rights involved, the court should err on the side of caution and declare a mistrial. R. 95, ll. 12-15. Though he found defense counsel's argument "compelling and sincere," the trial judge denied the motion. R. 95, ll. 16-22. The trial judge later mentioned that had presided over a trial in Sumter where the defendant won despite being in his prison garb and had his feet shackled and stated "[s]o it's just hard to judge on that." R. 98, l. 23 – 99, l. 1.

The basis for the second motion for mistrial was that two individuals on the State's witness list, Investigator Richards and Robert Brogdon,<sup>5</sup> were discussing the case in the hallway within arms-length of potential jurors. This occurred after the initial qualification of the jury but prior to voir dire. R. 95, l. 25 – 96, l. 24. Counsel noted that, in response to this concern, the trial court asked the jurors if they knew anything about the case “that did not come from within the four walls of this courtroom” and did not get any affirmative response. R. 97, ll. 8-13; see R. 87, ll. 1-6. However, he argued that the jurors may not realize that the information they overheard pertained to Johnson's case until they see Investigator Richards or Brogdon take the stand. It may be only then that “the light goes on” and they realize “that's the one that said he was overwhelming guilty.” R. 97, ll. 13-18.

The trial judge likened the hallway conversation to the solicitor saying in his opening statement that Johnson committed the murder, both of which would be addressed by his instructions to the jury. R. 97, l. 19 – 98, l. 1. Despite counsel's request to proffer the testimony of Brogdon for the record, the judge responded “I don't need – I assume if it was said, it was said.” R. 98, ll. 12-16. The judge indicated that even so, he had no way to know whether the jurors heard it, or even if they read about the case in the newspaper. He agreed that the jurors may not realize until later on in the trial that something they overheard or read was actually related to Johnson's case. R. 98, ll. 16-20. Even so, he denied the motion for mistrial. R. 98, ll. 1-2.

---

<sup>5</sup> Though both individuals were listed on the State's witness list, only Investigator Richards actually testified at the trial. R. 76, ll. 6-19; R. 325 – 378.

### **State's Witness Allowed to Testify via Skype**

Investigator Mason Moore was one of the two officers who conducted Johnson's interrogation on April 6, 2011 and participated in a second interview of Johnson on April 7, 2011. Defense counsel did not object to Moore testifying via Skype<sup>6</sup> for purposes of the pre-trial Denno hearing held March 6, 2014, but indicated that he may object to that for trial purposes. R. 4, ll. 1-7.<sup>7</sup> The parties returned to court the next day for the trial court's ruling regarding the admissibility of Johnson's statement, after which Judge Young began to address "the question as to the testimony by Skype whenever the trial begins." He indicated that he had reviewed the relevant case law and "checked around with other circuit court judges." Judge Young found that "apparently it's a pretty common practice, provided that there are certain situations." R. 63, l. 2 – 64, l. 1. He noted that in the present case the witness was 2500 miles away, was an "ancillary witness," "everything that was going on with him is available on videotape," and that there was another officer in the room for the majority of the interrogation. R. 63, ll. 1-9. He thus found that there would not be any prejudice to Johnson by allowing the testimony of Moore via Skype. R. 63, ll. 9-11.

Defense counsel responded that he understood the Court's ruling but stated that he had not yet presented his argument on that matter and requested the opportunity to do so. R. 64, ll. 12-17. The trial judge responded that he would be glad for him to do that "if it changes [his] mind," but asked counsel to begin by telling him what prejudice there

---

<sup>6</sup> Skype is a telecommunications application software product that specializes in providing video chat and voice calls from computers, tablets, and mobile devices via the Internet to other devices.

<sup>7</sup> Two pages of the pre-trial hearing transcript are denoted as page "3." This citation refers to the second page 3.

would be to Johnson. R. 64, ll. 18-20. Defense counsel responded that it violates the confrontation clause, which contemplates actual “face-to-face confrontation” that cannot be replicated by a video screen. Additionally, witnesses who are not located in the courtroom may have a greater propensity to lie. He argued that the mere convenience to the witness in this case “should [not] trump the defendant’s right to literally have face-to-face confrontation with his accuser where the jury is able to evaluate his credibility much more candidly, clearly, and visibly with him sitting in the room a few feet away versus an image of him broadcast from several states away.” R. 64, l. 21 – 67, l. 12.

The solicitor parroted back the reasoning that the trial court previously announced for its allowance for the use of Skype, i.e. that Moore’s testimony is cumulative, that another officer was present during the interrogation, and that the basis for the testimony is the videotaped interrogation. R. 66, ll. 14-24. He further argued that “a compelling or a substantial need exists to avoid costs, to avoid inconvenience to the witness, and to pretty much put on the record something that it not substantive but is a matter of tying the chain together.” R. 67, l. 24 – 69, l. 15. In issuing his ruling, the trial judge said that this case “begs for the use of Skype” and that he would therefore allow it. R. 68, ll. 16-24. He further commented on the improvement in technology and said “So if the Supreme Court gets an opportunity to look at it through this case, well, so be it.” R. 69, ll. 3-11.

Defense counsel renewed his object to the use of Skype both before and after Moore’s testimony at trial. R. 379, ll. 14-17; R. 403, ll. 3-16. The trial judge overruled the objection, stating “Skype has been used in many courts in this state and [has] been used in death penalty trials as well, so I’m satisfied that based upon some the testimony that I heard that it’ll be fine.” R. 379, ll. 18-22. The audio-visual connection was interrupted many

times during Moore's testimony, allowing him time to regroup and preventing a continuous cross-examination. R. 383 – 398. The trial judge denied the motion to strike and for mistrial made after the testimony. R. 404, l. 20 – 405, l. 1.

### **Introduction of Pre-Death Photographs of Victims**

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