ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Clarendon County
The Honorable William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-001219

THE STATE,

vs.

Respondent,

JUSTIN JERMAINE JOHNSON,

Appellant.

RECEIVED

MAY 23 2016

SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ERNEST FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 838
Sumter, South Carolina 29150-0836
(803) 576-1802

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

¹³ Mont. Const. art. II, 24 reads as follows:

In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel; to demand the nature and cause of the accusation; *to meet the witnesses against him face to face*; to have process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his behalf, and a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district in which the offense is alleged to have been committed, subject to the right of the state to have a change of venue for any of the causes for which the defendant may obtain the same.

(Emphasis added.)

the City and a significant burden on [her].” 355 P.3d at 731. “The City argued that with the advancements of two-way video/audio technology, the face-to-face confrontation clause would be satisfied.” *Id.*

On appeal, the Montana Supreme Court observed that “[i]n the last two decades, with the advancement of video conferencing technology, courts across the country have been called upon to address how the use of this technology may affect a criminal defendant's constitutional right to confront his or her accuser.” *Id.* at 732. The Court further noted that the Supreme Court in *Craig* “observed that the primary purpose of the Confrontation Clause is to ‘ensure the reliability of the evidence against a criminal defendant by subjecting it to rigorous testing in the context of an adversary proceeding.’ ” *id.* (citing *Craig*, 497 U.S. at 845, 110 S.Ct. at 3163); and that “[t]he elements of confrontation include physical presence of the witness, testimony under oath, cross-examination of the witness, and observation of the witness's demeanor by the trier of fact.” *City of Missoula*, 355 P.3d at 732 (citing *State v. Stock*, 256 P.3d 899, 903 (Mont. 2011), citing *Craig*, 497 U.S. at 845-46, 110 S.Ct. at 3163).

The Court in *City of Missoula* further noted that *Craig* had explained that the Confrontation Clause did not guarantee criminal defendants an absolute right to a face-to-face confrontation of the witnesses against them, 355 P.3d at 732, and it explained that although it had construed Mont. Const. art. II, 24 to provide greater protection to an accused than the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause, “in *Stock*, we observed that ‘we have never interpreted that greater protection to entitle a criminal defendant to *literal* face-to-face confrontation with all witnesses.’ ” *Id.* at 732-33 (emphasis in original citation).

The Court then rejected Duane’s argument as follows:

The record reveals that during the Municipal Court trial, the electronic connection was made without difficulty. The court administered the oath and confirmed that

Sjolin was alone in the room from which she was testifying, and that she could hear and see the court and the jury could hear and see her. Subsequently, counsel for the City and Duane conducted direct and cross-examination of the doctor in real time without complication or technical difficulty. Based upon the in-person testimony of other witnesses and Sjolin's Skype testimony, the jury found Duane guilty.

We conclude that the Municipal Court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Sjolin to testify via Skype, and the District Court did not err in upholding that decision. The concerns underlying our decision in *Bonamarte* with respect to cross-examination by telephone simply do not exist in this case and with this technology. While telephone testimony presents the listener with a disembodied voice and no clue as to the demeanor of the witness, Skype allows the court and jury to observe and hear the testimony of the witness firsthand. We conclude that our confrontation analysis in *Bonamarte* supports rather than precludes the use of Skype for witness testimony at trial.

While the physical presence of a witness in the courtroom is preferred, the City made a compelling showing that requiring Sjolin to travel to Missoula from California to testify live at three separate trials would impose a prohibitive expense on the City and a significant burden on Sjolin. Allowing Skype testimony under these circumstances was not error because all of the hallmarks of confrontation addressed in *Craig* and *Stock* were fully met: the proceeding was adversary, the witness was present in real time and under oath, and the jury was able to observe her demeanor and hear her testimony as she was subject to direct and cross-examination. Duane's constitutional right to confrontation was not violated.

City of Missoula, 355 P.3d at 733-34.¹⁴

Likewise, in *People v. Novak*, 41 Misc. 3d 733, 733, 971 N.Y.S.2d 197, 198 (N.Y. Co.Ct. 2013), the defendant filed a motion to allow a necessary defense witness, who resided in Florida and would not be available to testify in New York, “to testify via live, two-way video conference through Skype.” The People did not oppose the motion but argued that a finding of necessity must be made. *Id.* Relying upon the holding in *People v. Wrotten*, 14 N.Y.3d 33, 36, 38-39, 896 N.Y.S.2d 711, 714, 923 N.E.2d 1099, 1100, 1102 (N.Y. Ct.App. 2009), *cert. denied*, 560 U.S.

¹⁴ Thus, Appellant's reliance upon *Stock*, as well as the Court's reliance upon *Stock* in *Rogerson* is misplaced.

959, 960, 130 S.Ct. 2520, 2520-21 (2010),¹⁵ the trial judge granted the motion. He found that “[t]here is a necessity to have Deputy Wiggins testify via Skype: Due to the length and time constrains of this trial, the hardship Deputy Wiggins would experience in having to lose time from work to travel from Florida to New York, the delay in the trial if the witness had to arrange to travel to New York to testify, and the unexpected use of this witness by the defense. In addition, with the use of live, two-way video via Skype, the witness will be subject to cross-examination before the jury, making the testimony reliable.” *Novak*, 41 Misc. 3d at 735, 971 N.Y.S.2d at 199 (footnote omitted). The trial court also observed that the defendant, who has the constitutional right to confrontation, did not object, and that “Internet Skype communication is reliable, accurate and widely used in society and commerce.” *Id.* at 735-36, 971 N.Y.S.2d at 199.

Nor is there merit to Appellant’s argument that Skype was not sufficiently reliable because “there were multiple interruptions in the video testimony.” While he cites to eleven instances in which there were internet glitches, all but four of those instances occurred during the State’s direct examination. **Tr. p. 403, ll. 19-21; p. 405, ll. 22-24; p. 409, l. 2; p. 409, l. 25; R. p. 392, ll. 19-21; p. 394, ll. 22-24; p. 398, l. 2; p. 398, l. 25.** He admits that “the connection was ultimately restored” in each of the four interruptions that occurred on cross-examination. Also, either counsel was able to restate a question that was not heard or the witness was able to restate the answer that was interrupted on each occasion, both on direct and cross-examination. Respondent submits that these few interruptions did not establish the unreliability of Skype and did not deprive him of his Sixth Amendment right to confront the witness. *See Harrell v. Butterworth*, 251 F.3d 926, 928, 930-31 (11th Cir. 2001) (state court determination that technical

¹⁵ In *Wrotten*, the Court of Appeals held that the trial judge’s decision to allow a prosecution witness, who was found to be elderly, infirm, and physically incapable of traveling interstate to appear in court, to testify via live, two-way television, subject to cross-examination “following a finding of necessity was permissible under the Confrontation Clauses of both the Federal and State Constitutions,” since public policy of protecting witness’s well-being could justify ruling. *Id.*

difficulties occurring during testimony offered via satellite was neither contrary to, nor an unreasonable application of, clearly established Federal law as determined by the United States Supreme where the jurors were able to evaluate the witnesses' credibility and demeanor, despite technical difficulties during the testimony); *Leahy*, 2003 WL 1270525 at *3 (“we believe that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling Leahy's objections to the admission of expert testimony via the video-conferencing system. Although the system was not functioning properly, an appropriate remedy corrected the problem with the audio portion of the testimony”). Notwithstanding Appellant's contrary complaints, Respondent submits that the use of Skype provided him with all of the hallmarks of confrontation addressed in *Craig* and even provided greater protection of the confrontation right than in *Craig*: (1) the proceeding was adversary; (2) the witness was presented in real time and testified under oath, having been sworn by the Clarendon County Clerk of Court; (3) the witness was subject to cross-examination by defense counsel, which is “the ‘greatest legal engine ever invented for the discovery of truth’;” (4) the witness could see the defendant, as well as the other courtroom participants, and the defendant could see the witness; and (5) the jurors were able to evaluate the witnesses' credibility and demeanor. *See Craig*, 497 U.S. at 485-86, 110 S.Ct. at 3163; *City of Missoula*, 355 P.3d at 733-34; *Leahy*, 2003 WL 1270525 at *3; *Gigante*, 166 F.3d at 80; *Montague v. State*, 2016 WL 112378, at *3-5 (Tex. App. Jan. 6, 2016); *Yates*, 438 F.3d at 1328-29 (Marcus, J., dissenting). The presence of these factors “ensur[ed] that [the] evidence admitted against [Appellant was] reliable and subject to the rigorous adversarial testing that is the norm of Anglo-American criminal proceedings.” *Craig*, 497 U.S. at 486, 110 S.Ct. at 3163.

Although Respondent submits that this Court should follow the well-reasoned decisions in *Missoula*, *Leahy* and *Novak*, and reject the contrary authority cited by Appellant, the Court

does not need to address this novel issue because any supposed error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Accord State v. Drayton*, 415 S.C. 43, 45, 780 S.E.2d 902, 903 (2015) (“We find the Court of Appeals erred in reaching the novel issue of whether petitioner had an expectation of privacy in his HCSLD because, in view of the totality of the circumstances, the affidavits in support of the warrants established probable cause for the search”). A violation of the confrontation clause is not *per se* reversible but is subject to a harmless error analysis. *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 680, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1436 (1986). *See also Coy v. Iowa*, 487 U.S. 1012, 1021-22, 108 S.Ct. 2798, 2803 (1988).

Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors.... The factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684, 106 S.Ct. at 1438.¹⁶

¹⁶ At trial, Appellant did not argue that “under our State's law the violation of his right to confrontation constitutes a structural error such that the harmless error doctrine should not apply.” **FBOA p. 37**. Thus, his argument is barred on appeal. *See Bailey, supra*. Worse, he does not even bother to cite any authority for this bald proposition; and, more importantly, his counsel either knows or reasonably should know that there is no precedent from either the United States Supreme Court or the appellate courts of this State that would provide support for the claim that a violation of either S.C. Const. art. I, § 14 or § 17-23-60 is not subject to a harmless error analysis. *See, e.g., State v. Holder*, 382 S.C. 278, 285, 676 S.E.2d 690, 694 (2009) (“Violations of the Confrontation Clause are subject to a harmless error analysis”). An even more fundamental problem is that his claim that a violation of state law can constitute structural error misunderstands that the phrase “structural error” is a term of art developed by the Supreme Court and has nothing to do, whatsoever, with violations of state law, whether constitutional or otherwise.

“[M]ost constitutional errors can be harmless.” *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 306, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 1263 (1991). Also, “if the defendant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator, there is a strong presumption that any other [constitutional] errors that may have occurred are subject to harmless-error analysis. The thrust of the many constitutional rules governing the conduct of criminal trials is to ensure that those trials lead to fair and correct judgments. Where a reviewing court can find that the record developed at trial establishes guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, the interest in fairness has been satisfied and the judgment should be affirmed.” *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 579, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 3106 (1986).

As the Supreme Court has more recently emphasized, the few errors that have been classified as structural defects have been so categorized because the nature of the right at issue is such that “the effect of the violation cannot be ascertained” on review under traditional “harmless-error standards.” *United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140, 149 n. 4, 126 S.Ct. 2557, 2564 n. 4 (quoting *Vasquez v. Hillery*, 474 U.S. 254, 263, 106 S.Ct. 617 (1986)). Hence, *Gonzalez-Lopez* explains that the violation of the Sixth Amendment's public-trial guarantee is considered a structural defect “because ‘the benefits of a public trial are frequently intangible, difficult to prove, or a matter of chance.’” *id.*

Here, there cannot be any conceivable prejudice from allowing Inv. Moore's testimony via Skype, even if this did violate Appellant's right to confrontation. First, there was overwhelming evidence of guilt. Second, Moore's testimony was not necessary for introduction of Appellant's statement or evidence that was gathered from him before the statement was given. To the contrary, Inv. Coker's testimony independently authenticated and provided a sufficient foundation for the introduction of the custodial statement, and the evidence gathered prior to it. Third, Inv. Moore's testimony was largely cumulative to and was corroborated on all key points by the testimony by Inv. Coker, who was present during the interrogation of Appellant. It was also corroborated by the video recordings of the interrogation process. *See State's Exs. 56-65.*¹⁷

III. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by allowing the State to introduce Appellant's custodial statement because the record of the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing supports his findings that the statement was freely, knowingly, and voluntarily given after Appellant made a knowing and intelligent waiver of his *Miranda* rights.

at 149 n. 4 (quoting *Waller v. Georgia*, 467 U.S. 39, 49, n. 9, 104 S.Ct. 2210 (1984)); discriminatory practices in jury selection are structural "because the effect of the violation cannot be ascertained," *id.* (quoting *Vasquez*, 474 U.S. at 263, 106 S.Ct. 617); and the deprivation of a defendant's right to counsel of his or her choosing, the consequences of which "are necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate," constitutes a structural defect, *id.* at 149-50, 126 S.Ct. at 2564 (quoting *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 282 (1993)); *see also McKaskle v. Wiggins*, 465 U.S. 168, 177 n. 8, 104 S.Ct. 944, 951 n. 8 (1984) ("Since the right of self-representation is a right that when exercised usually increases the likelihood of a trial outcome unfavorable to the defendant, its denial is not amenable to 'harmless error' analysis"). Thus, the alleged error before this Court is not and could never be a "structural error." Indeed, Appellant's discussion of *Schwartz* at **FBOA p. 37-38** guts his claim that a Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause violation is structural error and it supports the State's harmless error analysis.

¹⁷ Appellant did not assert in the trial court that Inv. Moore's testimony via Skype violated either S.C. Const. art. I, § 14, or S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-60 (2003). **FBOA p. 27**. Thus, his arguments before this Court are procedurally barred under *Watts* and *Bailey*, *supra*. More importantly, he has not cited any authority for the proposition that art. I, § 14 affords greater protection to an accused than that afforded by the Sixth Amendment, and the Court explained in *State v. Cooper*, 291 S.C. 351, 356, 353 S.E.2d 451, 454 (1987), that:

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